
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION 
 
TABATHA L. KING,        ) 

 ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
v.       )  
       )  Case No. 3:21-cv-03086-TLB 
BAXTER COUNTY, ARKANSAS   ) 
JOHN MONTGOMERY, Sheriff, in his  ) 
individual and official capacity,    ) 
SERGEANT STEVEN GOODE, and    ) 
DOES 1-10, in their individual and    ) 
Official capacities.     ) 
       ) 

Defendants.  ) 
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiff Tabatha L. King comes before this Court and for her First Amended Complaint 

states: 

PARTIES 

1. Tabatha L. King (“King”) is a resident of Baxter County, Arkansas. 

2. Defendant, Baxter County, Arkansas is a governmental body lying in the State of 

Arkansas. At all times relevant, prior to her unlawful termination, Baxter County, 

Arkansas was King’s employer 

3. Defendant, Sheriff John Montgomery, is the Sheriff of Baxter County, Arkansas. At 

all times relevant, prior to her unlawful termination, Montgomery was a supervisor 

to King. 

4. Defendant, Sergeant Steve Goode, is a former Sergeant at the Baxter County 

Sheriff’s Department.  At all times relevant, prior to her unlawful termination, Goode 

was a supervisor to King. 

5. Defendant, Baxter County Sheriff’s Department is an agency of Baxter County, 

Arkansas and at all times referred to herein acted under the color of law. 
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6. Defendants, Does 1-10, are/were employees of Baxter County, Arkansas whose 

identities are not known at this time. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331.  Relief is authorized under 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq.  

8. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) in that the acts complained of 

occurred principally in Baxter County, Arkansas, which is situated within the U.S. 

District Court for the Western District of Arkansas. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

9. Plaintiff has satisfied the prerequisites to suit imposed by § 706 of Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1963, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e)-5, in particular: 

a. Plaintiff timely filed a charge of employment discrimination with the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission; 
 

b. Plaintiff received from the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission a 
determination entitling her to pursue this action, dated September 16, 2021, 
a copy of which was attached to the Original Complaint as Exhibit A and is 
incorporated by reference; and 
 

c. This action was timely commenced within ninety (90) days of the receipt of 
the determination set forth in paragraph (b) above. 

 
10. King was an employee of the Baxter County Detention Center where she was 

employed as a jailer and reserve deputy.  She became employed by Baxter County 

on or about April 2018. 

11. In Spring 2019, King was assisting Sergeant (then Corporal) Goode with moving 

inmate mattresses into a storage unit.  Sergeant Goode pushed Ms. King to the 

ground onto her knees and forced his penis into her mouth.  King pushed Goode 

off, and Goode told her she had better keep her mouth shut or he would find a way 

to have her fired.  As she fled, he exclaimed that no one would believe her. 
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12. King knows this occurred on a weekend during the spring because certain flowers 

were blooming, and Goode was wearing his weekend uniform. 

13. King did not file a claim for sexual assault at this time because of fear and she felt 

like no one would believe her as he had said, but discriminatory, criminal, and 

tortious actions by Goode would, at least in some form, continue throughout the 

remainder of her employment. 

14. In August 2019, Goode began to send King pictures of his penis.  King documented 

these photos and reported them to Dawn Dunford, head dispatcher.  Ms. Dunford 

stated that she would report the photos to Lieutenant Brad Lewis. 

15. On or about December 18, 2019, King requested to be put on a different rotation.  

King’s request was denied allegedly due to the fact that she did not formally 

request the change through the proper channels of command. 

16. Throughout the remainder of her employment, King was compelled to kowtow to 

Goode as he remained in his position over her. 

17. In 2020, King requested leave to go to the emergency room due to an urgent issue 

with a pending pregnancy.  She was told by her supervisor, once again, Sergeant 

Goode, that if she were to leave, that she would be fired; that she would not have 

a job when she returned from the hospital. 

18. After clocking out that day, still in uniform, King went to the hospital and finished 

suffering a miscarriage of her daughter. 

19. In March 2021, Sergeant Goode wrote in King’s yearly evaluation that she was 

insubordinate with no cause given.  King’s badge and gun privilege were revoked 

with the reason given as the fact that she was on anxiety medication.  These events 

were retaliation from Goode due to her reports of sexual harassment, and were in 

violation of her rights to be free from disability discrimination due to her anxiety 

(ironically suffered in significant part due to Goode’s actions). 
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20. On April 15, 2021, King reported to Captain Lewis that Sgt. Goode had sexually 

assaulted and sexually harassed her, and that he had retaliated against her 

through negative evaluations. 

21. King was terminated eight days later on or about April 23, 2021.  When King met 

with the Sheriff regarding her termination, he stated he knew of her complaint 

regarding the evaluation Goode prepared. 

22. When King pressed Sheriff Montgomery about the sexual assault complaint, he 

waived his arms exclaiming, “No, we will not discuss this.” 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I – DISCRIMINATION BASED ON SEX IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL 
RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

23. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-22 of her Complaint. 

24. At all times relevant Goode and Montgomery were King’s supervisors. 

25. A substantial and/or motivating factor for the unequal terms of employment, the 

hostile work environment, quid pro quo sexual harassment, retaliation and 

Plaintiff’s discharge was due to Plaintiff’s sex and her reporting the hostile work 

environment and sexual harassment which is in violation of the Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), eq seq. 

26. The aforementioned acts of the Defendants constitute unlawful discrimination 

against the Plaintiff on the basis of Plaintiff’s sex and her complaints which are in 

violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq. 

27. Plaintiff was subject to unwelcome sexual harassment, the harassment was based 

on sex, and the harassment affected a term, condition, or privilege of employment. 

28. The acts of Defendants were malicious, willful and in reckless and/or gross 

disregard of the Plaintiff’s rights. 
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29. Plaintiff is entitled to judgment against the Defendant Baxter County, Arkansas 

for sexual discrimination, quid pro quo sexual harassment and hostile work 

environment sexual harassment under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq. 

COUNT II – RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF  
TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

 
30. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-29 of her Complaint. 

31. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity, Defendants took materially adverse 

employment actions against her, and the materially adverse action was causally 

linked to King’s protected activity.  Namely, she filed reports about being assaulted, 

reported the disparate treatment received thereafter, and was terminated within 8 

days of filing yet another report in 2021. 

32. Defendants’ conduct is a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq. 

33. Plaintiff has suffered damages due to the Defendant Baxter County, Arkansas’ 

violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq. 

COUNT III – UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C § 1983  

34. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-33 of her Complaint. 

35. At the time of the incidents described herein, including those actions occurring in 

Spring, 2019, Plaintiff was harassed and subjected to unlawful discrimination and 

retaliation while working for Defendants Goode and Montgomery.  Defendants 

Montgomery and Goode, in each’s individual capacity, were at all times acting 

under color of state law as her supervisors at the time of the incidents described 

hereinabove, Plaintiff was a citizen of the State of Arkansas.  The actions of 

Defendants through their agents are in violation of Plaintiff’s right to equal 
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protection as provided by the U.S. Constitution.  See Fitzgerald v. Barnstable 

School Committee, 129 S. Ct. 788, 796 (2009)   

36. Plaintiff was subject to unwelcome sexual advances, assault, and harassment, 

these actions were based on sex, and these actions affected a term, condition, or 

privilege of employment. 

37. The acts of Defendants were malicious, willful and in reckless and/or gross 

disregard of the Plaintiff’s rights. 

38. Plaintiff has suffered damages due to the Defendants’ unlawful acts.    

39. Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the Defendants Goode and Montgomery, 

jointly and severally, for the violation of her civil rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. 

COUNTS IV & V – ARKANSAS CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 
DISCRIMINATION BASED UPON SEX AND RETALIATION 

 
40. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-39 of her Complaint. 

41. At the time of the incidents described herein, Plaintiff was harassed while working 

for Defendants and treated differently in the terms and conditions of her 

employment due to her sex.  Defendants were and are operating their business in 

the State of Arkansas.  At the time of the incidents described herein above, Plaintiff 

was a citizen of the State of Arkansas.  The actions of Defendants through their 

agents are in violation of Plaintiff’s civil rights pursuant to the Arkansas Civil Rights 

Act, Ark. Code Ann. § 16-123-101, et seq. 

42. Her termination and subsequent adverse treatment by the Defendants is believed 

to be directly retaliatory against her due to her prior protected activity, including but 

not limited to internal complaints made against the Defendants and her 

participation in the EEOC complaint process.   
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43. Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the Defendant Baxter County, Arkansas 

for the violation of her civil rights in violation of the Arkansas Civil Rights Act, Ark. 

Code Ann. § 16-123-101, et seq. 

COUNT VI – TORT OF OUTRAGE AGAINST SGT. STEVEN GOODE  
AND BAXTER COUNTY, ARKANSAS 

 
44. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-43 of her Complaint. 

45. The conduct of Sergeant Steven Goode was outrageous.  Defendants knew or 

should have known that Plaintiff would suffer extreme emotional distress as a 

result of his intentional acts.  The conduct of Sergeant Goode exhibited extreme, 

outrageous and utterly intolerable behavior in a civilized community.  Sergeant 

Goode’s conduct, imputed to Defendants, caused Plaintiff distress.  Plaintiff 

suffered severe and extreme emotional distress that no person in a civilized society 

should be expected to endure. 

46. As his employer, and knowledgeable of his past actions, and actions against the 

Plaintiff, and failing to take any remedial action, Baxter County, Arkansas should 

be liable for the outrageous conduct committed within the scope of his 

employment, including but not limited to, sexual advances in the workplace, sexual 

assault, and distributing nude images of himself to inferior female employees 

47. Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the Defendants Steven Goode and Baxter 

County, Arkansas jointly and severally for the tort of outrage. 

COUNT VII – CIVIL ACTION BY A CRIME VICTIM AGAINST SGT. STEVEN GOODE  
AND BAXTER COUNTY, ARKANSAS 

 
48. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-47 of her Complaint. 

49. Arkansas Code Annotated § 5-14-125(a)(1), Sexual Assault in the Second 

Degree, states: 

(a) A person commits sexual assault in the second degree if the person: 

(1) Engages in sexual contact with another person by forcible compulsion; 
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(c)  (1) Sexual assault in the second degree is a Class B felony. 

50. Arkansas Code Annotated 5-14-103, Rape, states: 

(a) A person commits rape if he or she engages in sexual intercourse or deviate 

sexual activity with another person: 

(1) By forcible compulsion; 

(c)(1) Rape is a Class Y felony. 

51. As stated above, Sgt. Goode, at work, forcibly compelled his subordinate, the 

Plaintiff, to perform oral sex on him while at work.  This action constitutes rape, 

and if not rape, sexual assault in the second degree. 

52. Pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. § 5-2-502, Baxter County, Arkansas is an 

organization under Arkansas law. 

53. Pursuant to Ark. Code Ann.  § 5-2-502(a)(2), Sheriff Montgomery, as the chief 

officer in command of the sheriff’s office, recklessly tolerated the actions of 

Sergeant Goode assaulting his subordinate employee. 

54. As a crime victim, pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. § 16-118-107, Plaintiff is entitled to 

recover damages suffered by the criminal act of the Sergeant Goode and the 

Baxter County, Arkansas Sheriff’s office. 

55. Pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. § 16-118-107(a)(3), King is entitled to her attorney’s 

fees and costs upon prevailing on this Count VII. 

COUNT VIII – NEGLIGENT ENTRUSTMENT AGAINST SHERIFF MONTGOMERY  
AND BAXTER COUNTY, ARKANSAS 

 
56. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-55 of her Complaint. 

57. Defendants’ hiring and retention of managers, assistant managers, supervisors 

and/or employee of Defendants were below the acceptable standards and 

constitutes negligent entrustment on the part of Defendants in keeping and 

Case 3:21-cv-03086-TLB   Document 28     Filed 04/28/22   Page 8 of 13 PageID #: 110



9 
 

maintaining managers, assistant managers, supervisors and/or other employees 

that engaged in the aforementioned discrimination, retaliation, sexual harassment 

and termination of Plaintiff. 

58. Defendants knew or should have known through the exercise of ordinary care that 

Sergeant Goode’s conduct would subject the Plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of 

harm. 

59. The conduct of Sergeant Goode did subject the Plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of 

harm and did cause harm to Plaintiff, and that Defendants’ negligent hiring and 

retention of Sergeant Goode was the proximate cause of the Plaintiff’s injuries. 

60. That based on previous allegations of sexual harassment against Sergeant Goode, 

the harm to Plaintiff was foreseeable. 

61. The Defendants were also negligent in failing to adequately train their 

management, supervisors and other personnel regarding discrimination and 

harassment in the workplace. 

62. Said negligence on the part of the Defendants result in the discrimination, sexual 

harassment, retaliation and termination of the Plaintiff. 

63. The acts of the Defendants were malicious, willful and in gross disregard to the 

Plaintiff’s rights. 

64. Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the Defendants Sheriff Montgomery and 

Baxter County, Arkansas jointly and severally for the tort of negligent entrustment. 

COUNT IX – DECLARATORY RELIEF 

65. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-64 of her Complaint. 

66. It is anticipated that Baxter County will seek to limit King’s damages under the 

Arkansas Civil Rights Act employment discrimination claim, as those enactments 

adopt damage caps related to employment discrimination. 
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67. Pursuant to Arkansas’ and the United State Code’s Declaratory Judgment 

Statutes, King requests a declaration that the caps on damages under the 

Arkansas Civil Rights Act as provided in Ark. Code Ann. Sec. 16-123-107(c)(2) are 

unconstitutional and also that Statutory Immunity afforded to Municipalities by Ark. 

Code Ann. § 21–9–301 is also unconstitutional.  

68. The Arkansas Supreme Court has recognized that every act carries a strong 

presumption of constitutionality. City of Cave Springs v. City of Rogers, 343 Ark. 

652, 658, 37 S.W.3d 607, 611 (2001). “An act will be struck down only when there 

is a clear incompatibility between the act and the constitution.”  Id. at 659, 37 

S.W.3d at 611.  “In construing a statute, [the Court] will presume that the General 

Assembly, in enacting it, possessed the full knowledge of the constitutional scope 

of its powers, full knowledge of prior legislation on the same subject, and full 

knowledge of judicial decisions under preexisting law.” Robert D. Holloway, Inc. v. 

Pine Ridge Addition Residential Prop. Owners, 332 Ark. 450, 453, 966 S.W.2d 

241, 243 (1998). “Where the language is plain and unambiguous, [the Court] 

determines legislative intent from the ordinary meaning of the language used.”  

Johnson v. Rockwell Automation, Inc., 2009 Ark. 241, *5, 308 S.W.3d 135, 139. 

69. The Arkansas Civil Rights Act clearly and unmistakably conflicts with Article 2, 

Section 13 of the Arkansas Constitution, which states: “Every person is entitled to 

a certain remedy in the laws for all injuries or wrongs he may receive in his person, 

property or character; he ought to obtain justice freely, and without purchase; 

completely, and without denial; promptly and without delay; conformably to the 

laws.” 

70. “The General Assembly does not have the power to override a constitutional 

provision.”  Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Arkansas v. Andrews, 2018 Ark. 12, *11, 

535 S.W.3d 616, 622. 
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71. The caps on damages in the Arkansas Civil Rights Act employment discrimination 

actions clearly conflicts with the Arkansas Constitution.  Under Art. 5, Section 32, 

the General Assembly is prohibited from enacting laws limiting the amount to be 

recovered for injuries to persons in non-worker's compensation cases and matters 

not involving torts between employees and employers.  See Bayer Crop Science 

LP v. Schafer, 385 S.W.3d 822, 831 (Ark. 2011). 

72. These discrimination actions are statutorily created causes of action and do not 

constitute a “tort between employees and employers,” and thus, the limitations on 

damages therein are unconstitutional. 

73. In addition, Ark. Code Ann. § 21–9–301 also attempts to modify Article 2, Section 

13 of the Arkansas Constitution by eliminating claims for damages against 

municipalities except to the extent they may have insurance.  As opposed to 

Andrews where the Supreme Court found that the State Claims Commission was 

an appropriate venue, this immunity leaves claimants without any remedy for the 

alleged unintentional torts against municipalities.   

DAMAGES 

74. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-73 of her Complaint. 

75. Plaintiff has been damaged by Defendants’ conduct emotionally, physically, and 

mentally, as well as financially due to the adverse against taken against her and 

against her employment with the Defendants. 

76. Plaintiff is entitled to the following damages:  back pay, compensatory damages, 

emotional distress damages, front pay, punitive damages and attorney’s fees and 

costs. 

JURY DEMAND 

77. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that she be granted judgment against the Defendants, jointly 

and severally, and in favor of the Plaintiff as follows: 

a. For compensatory and punitive damages in an amount in excess of that 
required for federal jurisdictional purposes; 
 

b. For an aware of back pay, including overtime and all raises from the date 
of termination to the date of trial, less any amount she has received in 
mitigation of her damages at other employment; 
 

c. For full benefits, or the monetary equivalent of the same, for group health, 
dental, life disability and other insurance benefits provided by the 
Defendants, from the date of termination onward; and  
 

d. For all bonuses the Plaintiff would have received from the date of 
termination onward. 

 
e. For attorney’s fees pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. §16-22-308 and Title VII of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000(e)-5(k) and the Arkansas Civil 
Rights Act. 

 
f. For prejudgment interest compounded daily, from the date of termination 

to the date of judgment in this action pursuant to Article 19, Section 13 of 
the Arkansas Constitution. 

 
g. For costs, and all other relief to which Plaintiff may be entitled. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
Tabatha L. King, Plaintiff 
 

        By:  /s/ George Rozzell    
George Rozzell, Ark. Bar 08032 
MILLER, BUTLER, SCHNEIDER, PAWLIK & 

ROZZELL, PLLC 
323 W. Spring St. 
Fayetteville, Arkansas 72701 
Phone:  479-621-0006 
Fax:  479-631-6890 
Email:  grozzell@arkattorneys.com 
             
Attorneys for Plaintiff  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
I hereby certify that I filed the foregoing via the Court’s CM/ECF system, which shall send 

notice of the filing and a copy thereof to all counsel of record. 
 

By:  /s/ George Rozzell    
George Rozzell, Ark. Bar 08032 
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